FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/20/2023 8:00 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102567-0

WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

LAURIE JEAN GUDNASON,

Appellant,

V.

HELGI GUDNASON,

Respondent.

AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brian Christopher Zuanich WSBA #43877 Attorney for Appellant

ZUANICH LAW PLLC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, WA 98101 206.829.8415 brian@zuanichlaw.com

I. Introduction

The law favors finality and a resolution of a case on its merits. In this case, however, the Court of Appeals adopted a sweeping and unsupported policy by which unhappy litigants can ask the courts to set aside valid contracts into which the parties have entered knowingly and voluntarily.

After divorcing, a husband and wife signed a qualified domestic relations order (QDR•) dividing the husband's pension benefits. Ten years later, the husband asked the trial court to vacate the QDR• and enter a new QDR•, claiming he did not understand the full effects of the original QDR•, even though he had an attorney and had several months to review the original QDR•. In upholding the trial court's order vacating the original QDR•, the Court of Appeals held that ordinary attorney negligence provides a valid

basis to vacate a judgment under CR 60(b)(11), which only applies in "extraordinary circumstances." This Court should reverse the Court of Appeals. This case also provides this Court the opportunity to discuss and clarify the limits of CR 60(b)(11) with respect to attorney conduct, an issue of substantial and continuing public interest.

II. Identity of Petitioner

Petitioner Laurie Gudnason seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review.

III. Court of Appeals Decision

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision issued on October 16, 2023,

Marriage of Gudnason, No. 8345-8-I, which is attached as Appendix A.

IV. Issue Presented for Review

1. In ruling that an attorney's failure to adequately review the terms of contract absent

evidence of fraud, coercion, or serious medical impairment justified relief under CR 60(b)(11), did the Court of Appeals err in ruling that attorney negligence is grounds to vacate a judgment, contrary to this Court's well-settled jurisprudence that clients are bound by the acts of their attorneys?

V. Statement of the Case

Helgi and Laurie Gudnason separated in 2007 after 24 years of marriage. (CP 7) In 2008, the parties entered a property settlement agreement (PSA), which divided the parties' assets and liabilities. (CP 89) The property included Helgi's pension benefits that he earned through his employer's Puget Sound Electrical Workers (PSEW) pension plan. (CP 232)

Under the PSA, Laurie would receive 50 percent of the marital share of Helgi's benefits based on a formula that considers the parties' pre-separation

¹ Because they share the same last name, this petition refers to the parties by their first name. No disrespect is intended.

years of marriage, Helgi's monthly retirement benefit, and his total number of years earning pension benefits.

(CP 21, 89) This is known as the <u>Bulicek</u> formula.²

The PSA did not address any other retirement benefits, including the survivor or disability benefits. (CP 98-99) The PSA required the parties to execute a qualified domestic relations order (QDRO) within 30 days, through which the parties' respective pension benefits were "to be divided." (CP 298-99)

In April 2008, the trial court entered a dissolution decree that incorporated the PSA (CP 11-12) Neither party appealed the decree. (CP 160)

In May 2008, Laurie's attorney received a fourpage proposed QDRO ("2008 QDRO") from Helgi's attorney (CP 92-98) The 2008 QDRO designated

² This formula arises out of the Court of Appeals' decision in <u>Marriage of Bulicek</u>, 59 Wn. App. 630, 632, 800 P.2d 394 (1990).

Laurie as the alternate payee for Helgi's pension benefits and stated that if Helgi died before he started receiving benefits, Laurie "shall be treated as [Helgi's] surviving spouse ... and shall be entitled to a percentage of the benefits accrued," per the <u>Bulicek</u> formula. (CP 95-96)

In the 2008 QDRO, Helgi proposed to divide his disability benefits outside the <u>Bulicek</u> Formula as follows:

If [Helgi] becomes disabled and begins receiving Disability Retirement payments from the Plan, such benefits are the separate property of [Helgi] and will not alter the benefit awarded or the start date of [Laurie's] benefits.

(CP 96)

That same month, the parties received a letter from a PSEW pension lawyer, Robert Bohrer, which

stated that the 2008 QDRO "complies with statutory, regulatory, and Plan requirements."

Neither party, however, signed the 2008 QDRO. $\label{eq:cp25} \text{(CP 25)}$

Three (3) years elapsed, during which time the parties did not have any communication about revising or filing a QDRO. (CR 75)

In 2011, Laurie's attorney sent a six-page proposed QDRO ("2011 QDRO") to Helgi's lawyer. (CP 160) Paragraph 6 of the 2011 QDRO assigned Laurie, as the alternate payee, a "share of the Participant's [Helgi's] monthly benefit" per the <u>Bulicek</u> formula. (CP 16) The 2011 QDRO also addressed the division of the survivor annuity benefits under Helgi' pension plan in Paragraph 9, which reads as follows:

The Participant [Helgi] shall elect to receive the Participant's [Helgi's] accrued benefit in the following form: 50% Joint and

Survivor Annuity with the Alternate Payee [Laurie] treated as the surviving spouse.

(CP 17)

Around the same time, Laurie's attorney had sent the 2011 QDR• to the PSEW pension plan administrator for review. (CP 160) In April 2011, Laurie's attorneys received a letter ("Bohrer letter") from the PSEW attorney, stating that the 2011 QDR• qualifies as a valid QDR•:

The Order is capable of being administered. The instructions for allocation under Paragraph 6 have been supplemented by further instructions at Paragraph 9 wherein the Participant [Helgi] elects to obtain a future benefit by way of an election for 50% Joint and Survivor Annuity with the Alternate Payee [Laurie] named as alternate spouse.

(CP 106). Neither Helgi nor his attorney received a copy of the Bohrer letter at this time, although the letter was on file with PSEW. (CP 25, 144-45)

Laurie signed the 2011 QDR in May 2011.

(CP 19) Helgi signed on October 4, 2011, and Helgi's attorney signed over a month later, on November 7. (CP 19) The trial court signed and entered the 2011 QDR a few days later. (CP 19)

In February 2020, Helgi applied for retirement. (CP 75). By this time, he had remarried and intended on designating his new wife as the surviving spouse for his pension benefits. (CP 75) But Helgi learned from his pension manager, Melinda Stokes, that the 2011 QDR• designated Laurie as his surviving spouse and he could not substitute his new spouse for Laurie. (CP 143-44) Helgi first received a copy of

the Bohrer letter when he met with Stokes. (CP 76)

•ver the next year, Helgi tried
unsuccessfully to get Laurie to sign an amended
QDR●. (CP 109-10, 118) In ●ctober 2021, Helgi
filed a motion to vacate the 2011 QDR● (CP 2071) In his motion, Helgi testified that the 2011
QDR● was "incorrectly written" because it
awarded Laurie a survivor annuity benefit, which
"was not in our original separation agreement."
(CP 76)

The trial court granted Helgi's motion and vacated the 2011 QDR. (CP 170-81) The trial court ruled that Laurie had a fiduciary duty to provide a copy of the Bohrer letter to Helgi's attorney (CP 173), because the Bohrer letter "supplemented" the 2011 QDR. by providing her

with additional pension benefits beyond which she was entitled to under the PSA. (CP 177) The trial court also found it "extraordinary" that PSEW did not provide the Bohrer letter to Helgi. (CP 173) For these reasons, the trial court vacated the 2011 QDR• under CR 60(b)(11) and entered Helgi's proposed QDR• ("2022 QDR•"). (CP 174)

The Court of Appeals affirmed in a split decision.

(App 23) The majority opinion ruled that the 2011

QDR contravened the PSA because Laurie was not entitled to survivor annuity benefits under the PSA

(App 11), but the Bohrer letter "interpreted" the 2011

QDR to provide Laurie with these benefits. (App 18)

Laurie's sole possession of the Bohrer letter, therefore, gave her "superior knowledge," so she had a fiduciary duty to provide the letter to Helgi. (App 21) The

majority also noted that the PSEW's failure to provide
Helgi with the Bohrer letter was a "procedural
anomaly." (App 23) These two factors produced a
"unique combination of extraordinary circumstances"
justifying relief under CR 60(b)(11). (App 23)

In response, the dissent asserted that the PSA and 2011 QDR• are complementary, not contradictory. By its terms, the PSA required the parties to execute a QDR• to "complete" their agreement and dissolution. (App 27-31) As the dissent noted, the PSA does not identify the disability retirement or the survivor benefit or specify the formula for calculating either. (App 28, 31) Furthermore, Laurie did not have a fiduciary obligation to disclose the Bohrer letter because the "Bohrer letter told Helgi nothing more than was contained in the [QDR•]." (App 34) Finally, neither Helgi nor his attorney alleged they were

coerced or pressured into signing the 2011 QDRO. (CP 33-34) Helgi may have "relied on a mistaken belief" that the terms of the 2011 QDRO were similar to the terms of the 2008 QDRO, but the dissent would have ruled that his "subjective misunderstanding" does not warrant relief under CR 60(b)(11). (CP 36)

VI. Argument

A. A litigant is not entitled to judicial relief based on his attorney's negligence absent fraud or coercion.

This Court reviews a trial court's order vacating a judgment for abuse of discretion. Luckett v. Boeing

Co., 98 Wn. App. 307, 309, 989 P.2d 1144 (1999). A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or reasons. Shrauner v. Olsen, 16 Wash.App.

2d 384, 401, 483 P.3d 815 (2020). A trial court "necessarily" abuses its discretion if the decision

erroneously interprets the law. <u>Id.</u> (internal citations omitted). A trial court also abuses its discretion if the record does not support its legal conclusions.

<u>Hundtofte v. Encarnacion</u>, 181 Wn.2d 1, 10, 330 P.3d 168 (2014).

This case implicates a question of substantial public interest—the extent to which clients should suffer the consequences of their attorney's negligence. At bottom, however, this case comes down to a simple contract dispute where the losing party regretted the contract he signed. Helgi and his attorney signed the 2011 QDRO without carefully reviewing its terms and consequences. The trial court abused its discretion in rescuing Helgi from his attorney's negligence, and the Court of Appeals erred in upholding this decision.

Over 40 years ago, in <u>National Bank v. Equity</u>

<u>Investors</u>, this Court made it clear that parties cannot undo contracts to which they have voluntarily entered:

[A party] cannot, in the absence of fraud, deceit, or coercion be heard to repudiate his own signature voluntarily and knowingly fixed to an instrument whose contents in law bound he was to understand . . . The whole panoply of contract law rests on the principle that one is bound by the contract which he voluntarily and knowingly signs.

We have always held that a party whose right rest upon a written instrument which is plain and unambiguous, and who has read or had the opportunity to read the instrument, cannot claim to have been misled concerning its contents or to be ignorant of what is provided therein.

81 Wn.2d 886, 506 P.2d 20 (1973) (emphasis added).

Similarly, this Court has also held that a clients are generally "bound" by their attorney's conduct absent fraud or coercion.

The rule that a party cannot in equity find relief from the consequence of his own negligence or of a mistake of the law is equally applicable where the mistake or neglect is that of his attorney employed in the management of the case.

Haller v. Wallis, 89 Wn.2d 539, 547, 573 P.2d 1032 (1978). In these cases, the aggrieved client's client "remedy is against his counsel," not the remedy of an appeal or a rehearing. <u>Id</u>

Only in egregious cases of attorney misconduct does the client have a right to judicial relief. In <u>Barr v.</u> MacGugan, an attorney suffering from severe clinical depression, failed to respond to discovery requests, and later failed to comply with an order compelling discovery responses. 119 Wn. App. 43, 45, 48, 78 P.3d

660 (2003). As a result, the trial court dismissed the plaintiff's case with prejudice. <u>Id.</u> at 45. The plaintiff, who learned about the dismissal from a third-party, had left multiple messages with her attorney inquiring about the status of the case, none of which were returned. <u>Id.</u> The plaintiff had even returned draft discovery responses for the lawyer's review. <u>Id.</u> The plaintiff successfully moved to vacate the dismissal order after finally learning about her attorney's clinical depression. <u>Id.</u>

In upholding the trial court, the Court of Appeals ruled that this Court's prevailing rule does not control on these particular facts. "[T]here is no basis for attributing the attorney's acts to the client when the [attorney-client] relationship has **disintegrated** to the point where as a practical matter there is **no representation."** <u>Id.</u> at 48 (emphasis added).

Therefore, the court held that the plaintiff had established the test for "extraordinary circumstances" justifying relief under CR 60(b)(11).

The record does not support the Court of Appeals' finding that there are "commonalities" between <u>Barr</u> and this case. (App 22) There is no evidence in the record that Helgi's attorney was suffering from any medical or physical disabilities. Helgi's attorney was competent and presumably understood the legal nuances surrounding QDROs and property settlement agreements, considering she drafted the 2008 QDRO. (CP 92-98)

Furthermore, in <u>Barr</u>, the Court of Appeals relied on the fact that the plaintiff had made diligent attempts to contact her attorney and that the merits of the case had never been addressed. Neither factor applies here. Helgi and Laurie had settled their

divorce, had divided all their assets and liabilities, and had executed a QDRO to comprehensively divide Helgi's retirement benefits.

The critical period in this case is between 2008 and 2011. After Helgi's attorney submitted the 2008 QDRO to Laurie's attorney, nearly three (3) years elapsed and, essentially, nothing happened. Not once, apparently, did Helgi or his attorney contact Laurie or her attorney about why she had not signed the 2008 QDRO. Helgi never filed a show cause motion or took any other judicial action seeking entry of the 2008 QDRO. In short, no reasonable person could find that Helgi was "diligently" following up on his case. <u>Id.</u> at 48.

Finally, in <u>Barr</u>, the attorney's health issues were the client's control. Before learning about his condition, the plaintiff had no idea why her attorney

was not prosecuting her case. But the lack of diligence of Helgi's attorney was certainly in Helgi's control.

Helgi knew that Laurie had not signed the 2008

QDRO. He could have found out why but never did.

In a more recent case, the Court of Appeals made clear that <u>Barr</u> was a "limited" exception to the general rule that ordinary attorney negligence is not a basis for relief. <u>Stanley v. Cole</u>, 239 P.3d 611 (2009). In <u>Stanley</u>, the plaintiff filed a motion to vacate an arbitration award because her attorney failed to appear at the hearing. <u>Id.</u> at 613. During this time, the attorney was taking care of her sick parents for several months and effectively abandoned the case. <u>Id.</u> The trial court denied the motion to vacate, and the Court of Appeals affirmed. <u>Id.</u> at 613-14. Rejecting the appellant's reliance on Barr, the court reasoned:

Barr is not controlling here because (1) Stanley failed to offer argument or case authority under CR 60(b)(11)'s "catch-all" provision, (2) she offered no evidence to show her attorney suffered from a mental condition and she acted diligently to learn about the status of her case, and (3) Stanley's case was resolved on its merits, not by default judgment.

Id. at 619. In this case, by contrast, the majority opinion makes no effort to analyze—let alone explain—the conduct of Helgi's attorney between 2008 and 2011. The majority also ignores the obvious similarities between Stanley and this case—namely, both cases were decided on the merits. And to emphasize, this case was decided on the merits and reduced to a separation contract after a lengthy negotiation between the parties. A subsequent dispute on the QDRO language is not analogous to a default judgment not decided on the merits.

B. The Court of Appeals erred in finding "extraordinary" circumstances justified relief under CR 60(b)(11).

CR 60(b)(11) applies "sparingly to situations 'involving extraordinary circumstances." In re

Marriage of Knutson, 114 Wn. App. 866, 872-73, 60

P.3d 681 (2003) These circumstances "must relate to irregularities extraneous to the action of the court or questions concerning the regularity of the court's proceedings." In justifying relief under CR 60(b)(11), the Court of Appeals relies heavily on two factors: (1)

Laurie's failure to disclose the Bohrer letter to Helgi's attorney; and (2) the pension administrator's failure to provide the letter to Helgi's attorney. But neither justifies relief.

First, the majority opinion held that the pension attorney's failure to disclose the Bohrer letter to Helgi was a "procedural anomaly ... supporting a conclusion

of extraordinary circumstances." (App 23) But procedural anomalies are not extraordinary circumstances.

In support of its theory, the majority relies on Topliff v. Chicago Insurance Company, 130 Wn. App. 301, 122 P.3d 922 (2005). There, the plaintiff sued his insurance company, but the insurance commissioner failed to comply with its statutory obligation to provide a copy of the summons and complaint to the defendant. Id. at 305. The trial court later entered a default judgment for over \$2 million because the defendant did not respond to the lawsuit. Id. The court affirmed the trial court's order vacating the default judgment finding that the insurance commissioner's "inexcusable neglect" to fulfill its statutory obligation justified relief under CR 60(b)(11). Id. at 306.

As with <u>Barr</u>, the majority relies on so-called "commonalities" between <u>Topliff</u> and this case that do not exist. In <u>Topliff</u>, the defendant "was not afforded due process" because he did not receive the summons and complaint. <u>Id.</u> at 305. Helgi's pension plan, by contrast, had no statutory duty to provide the Bohrer letter to Helgi.

Additionally, the court based its finding of extraordinary circumstances under CR 60(b)(11) on Laurie's "fiduciary duty" to provide a copy of the Bohrer letter to Helgi. A spouse must disclose "material facts" to the other spouse, especially if the spouse has "superior knowledge of business affairs."

Seals v. Seals, 22 Wn. App. 652, 655-56, 590 P.2d 1301 (1979). A spouse, for example, has a fiduciary obligation to disclose separate and community assets during dissolution proceedings. Id.

In <u>In re Marriage of Sievers</u>, 78 Wn. App. 287, 897 P.2d. 388 (1995)—the case upon which the majority opinion principally relies—the husband failed to disclose tax records and child support records and grossly misrepresented his income. Id. at 301-02. In this case, the husband managed a multimillion-dollar business, and the wife did not work outside the home. Id. at 292. The husband also used his "superior knowledge" of the tax code to "insert language" into a property settlement agreement that imposed additional tax liability on his wife and would effectively "subvert" the original agreement the parties signed earlier that year. <u>Id.</u> at 311.

This case is entirely different than <u>Sievers</u>.

Unlike the husband in <u>Sievers</u>, who had superior knowledge on tax matters, Laurie did not have "superior knowledge" of pension benefits or QDROs.

She did not conceal property or hide assets from Helgi. She did not conspire with Helgi's pension administrator to withhold the Bohrer letter from him. Neither she nor her attorney attempted to conceal the language of the 2011 QDR• or frustrate Helgi's review of the document. Indeed, the evidence strongly suggests the opposite. After signing the 2011 QDR•, Laurie patiently waited months for Helgi and his attorney to sign.

Laurie also did not violate her fiduciary duty because the contents of the Bohrer letter did not constitute "material facts" without which Helgi and his attorney could have intelligently reviewed the 2011 QDR. That is because, as the dissent makes clear, the "Bohrer letter told Helgi nothing more than was contained in the [2011 QDR.]." (App 34)

A close comparison of the letter and the QDR

makes this clear

Paragraph 9 of the 2011 QDR● reads:

[Helgi] shall elect to receive [Helgi's] accrued benefit in the following form: 50% Joint and Survivor Annuity with [Laurie] treated as the surviving spouse.

(CP 17)

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