FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/19/2023 3:00 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 102567-0 Court of Appeals, Division I No. 83845-8-I

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LAURIE JEAN GUDNASON,

Appellant,

v.

HELGI GUDNASON,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Wiliam B. Reingold, Jr., WSBA #58758 Lisa Ann Sharpe, WSBA #21047 Attorneys for Respondent LASHER HOLZAPFEL SPERRY & EBBERSON PLLC 601 Union St., Suite 2600 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 624-1230

II.	INTRODUCTION			
III.	FACTS RELEVANT TO ANSWER4			
IV.		SONS THE COURT SHOULD Y REVIEW10		
	A.	Laurie claims that this case implicates "substantial public interest" without discussing how or why this is so		
	В.	Claims of "ordinary attorney negligence" wildly distorts (or willfully ignores) the facts of this case		
		Context extinguishes Laurie's claims of attorney negligence		
		2. Laurie's reading of <i>Barr v</i> . <i>MacGugan</i> and the Court of Appeals' decision is specious, dishonest, and not reflective of case law		
	C.	There was no abuse of discretion in granting relief under CR 60(b)(11)		
		1. The facts of this case speak to the irregularities and extraneous anomalies CR 60(b)(11) is designed to safeguard against		

	2.	The Court properly analogized elements of various cases in coming to		
		its conclusion	22	
V.	CONCLUS	SION	24	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court Cases

In re Marriage of Katare, 175 Wn.2d 23, 283 P.3d 546 (2012)
In re Marriage of Shoemaker, 128 Wn.2d 116, 904 P.2d 1150 (1995)18
Roe v. Snyder, 100 Wn. 311, 170 P 1027 (1918)
Washington Court of Appeals Cases
Barr v. MacGugan, 119 Wn. App. 43, 78 P.3d 660 (2003)passim
Hammack v. Hammack, 114 Wn. App. 805, 60 P.3d 663 (2003)
In re Marriage of Gudnason, No. 83845-8-I, 2023 WL 6809655 (Oct. 16, 2023)passim
<i>In re Marriage of Sievers</i> , 78 Wn. App. 287, 897 P.2d 388 (1995)
In re Marriage of Thurston, 92 Wn. App. 494, 963 P.2d 947 (1998)
<i>Knies v. Knies</i> , 96 Wn. App. 243, 979 P.2d 482 (1999)

157 Wn. App. 873, 239 P.3d 611 (2009)
Topliff v. Chicago Ins. Co., 130 Wn. App. 301, 122 P.3d 922 (2005)
Wash. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Alsager, 165 Wn. App. 10, 266 P.3d 905 (2011)
Statues and Rules
CR 60passim
RAP 13.4
Other Authorities
BENJAMIN N. CARDOZO, THE NATURE OF THE JUDICIAL PROCESS (1921)
MERRIAM-WEBSTER https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/
Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 205

I. IDENTITY OF THE RESPONDENT & RELIEF REQUESTED

Respondent Helgi Gudnason requests that this Court deny review of the unpublished opinion in *In re Marriage of Gudnason*, No. 83845-8-I (Oct. 16, 2023) (copy attached), and its application of CR 60(b)(11). The decision is nonprecedential, and Laurie Gudnason's Petition for Review does not cite any conflicting case law. Nor could she. The unusual facts of this case fall squarely within the ambit of CR 60(b)(11).

II. INTRODUCTION

Fourteen years after the parties' 2008 divorce, Helgi successfully vacated the parties' Qualified Domestic Relations Order ("QDRO"). A divided Court of Appeals affirmed. Laurie now posits that the opinion sanctions "ordinary attorney negligence [to be] a valid cause of action under CR 60(b)(11)." (Pet. 1). But neither the majority nor dissenting opinions relied upon attorney negligence as a basis for decision. Placed in context, her argument is as hyperbolic as it is misleading.

The parties reached a Property Settlement Agreement that expressly set forth the well-established *Bulicek* formula allocating the retirement benefits each spouse would receive from Helgi's pension. *In re Marriage of Bulicek*, 59 Wn. App. 630, 632, 639, 800 P.2d 394 (1990).

Specifically, Laurie would receive a <u>50%</u> interest in Helgi's pension and survivor annuity accrued during the marriage, with a date of separation being February 15, 2007:

Laurie submitted a QDRO drafted by her own attorney to the pension attorney, who, in turn, responded only to Laurie to say the *Bulicek* formula "ha[s] been supplemented" to award her 100% of the Qualified Joint Survivor Annuity—a drastic departure from the parties' Property Settlement Agreement because it gave her additional benefits beyond what had been granted by the terms of that agreement.

All this was outside of Helgi's control or knowledge. Only Laurie was notified of the modification to their agreement. Worse yet, she withheld this information: neither the pension attorney, Laurie, nor her attorneys relayed anything to Helgi. So Helgi, unaware of the changes to their settlement, signed the QDRO to his detriment. He trusted that Laurie would comport with her spousal fiduciary duties, namely her fiduciary obligation of good faith and fair dealing.

That trust was betrayed. Laurie's attorney did not (1) call out the change directly, or (2) provide a copy of the pension attorney's letter, which supplemented the term "accrued" marital benefit to give Laurie 100% of the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity. After he discovered the changes, Helgi successfully vacated the QDRO so that he could return the parties to their Property Settlement Agreement reached in 2008.

The facts of this case are *sui generis*, and there is no substantial and continuing public interest furthered by this Court's review. The decision should stand.

III. FACTS RELEVANT TO ANSWER

The parties separated on February 15, 2007, and entered into a Property Settlement Agreement ("PSA") in April 2008. (CP 7, 288-302). Helgi's pension was through the Puget Sound Electrical Worker Pension Trust where he was a participant in the pension since July 1999. (CP 73). The PSA divided the community portion of the pension according to the *Bulicek* formula, and Laurie was to receive a 50% interest in Helgi's pension and survivor annuity accrued during the marriage, ending February 15, 2007. (CP 73, 298-299).

The PSA required Helgi to draft the QDRO memorializing their agreed use of the *Bulicek* formula. (CP 92-96). He did so right away, submitting it to Puget Sound Electrical Worker Pension Trust. (CP 75.).

Nearly three years passed without any action. (*Id.*). Then, for unknown reasons, Laurie hired an attorney to draft her own QDRO. (*Id.*). In early 2011, her new attorney drafted a different QDRO and submitted it to the Pension Trust. (CP 162).

Soon thereafter the attorney for the Pension Trust, Robert Bohrer, drafted a letter adopting *Laurie's* QDRO (the "Bohrer Letter"). (CP 106). However, Bohrer's letter changed the parties' agreed terms in the PSA, removing language limiting Laurie's interest in the pension to the portion accrued *during the marriage*. (*Id*.). Specifically, the Bohrer Letter "supplemented" the QDRO, stating that Laurie would to receive an interest in the pension accrued *after the agreed date of separation*. The letter read:

The [QDRO] is capable of being administered. The instructions for allocation under Paragraph 6 have been supplemented by further instructions at Paragraph 9 wherein the Participant elects to obtain a future benefit by way of an election for 50% Joint and Survivor Annuity with the Alternate Payee named as the surviving spouse.

(*Id.*) (emphasis added).

There are three reasons why this is such a critical letter: (1) Bohrer exceeded his power by altering the terms of

the PSA; (2) the Bohrer Letter interpreted Laurie's QDRO to give Laurie <u>100%</u> of the 50% Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity ("QJSA"); and (3) only Laurie's attorneys were sent the Bohrer Letter—not Helgi. (CP 25).

Worse yet, neither Laurie nor her attorneys forwarded the letter to Helgi. They have never denied this fact. Helgi therefore had no idea that the PSA's terms were altered by the QDRO prepared by Laurie's attorney.

Helgi signed this new version of the QDRO (the "2011 QDRO") because he did not receive the explanation set out in the Bohrer Letter. (CP 78). Had he known about the letter "supplement[ing]" the PSA's terms, he would have contested it because it did not reflect the parties' agreed use of the *Bulicek* formula. (CP 78).

At first blush, the 2011 QDRO appears to align with the PSA: it references the February 15, 2007, separation date, as well as the Laurie's assigned benefit as Alternate Payee:

6. Alternate Payee's Assigned Benefit: This Order assigns to the Alternate Payee a percentage share of the Participant's monthly benefit paid from the Plan equal to

$$50\% \times \frac{A}{B}$$

where "A" is equal to the Participant's accrued benefit in the Plan on the Participant's benefit service in the Plan from August 23, 1983 through February 15, 2007 using the Plan's benefit formula in effect as of the Participant's annuity starting date; and

where "B" is equal to the Participant's total accrued benefit in the Plan based on all of the participant's benefit service in the Plan using the Plan's benefit formula in effect as of the Participant's annuity starting date.

In this Order, the term "annuity starting date" has the same meaning that term has in section 417(f)(2) of the Code; the term "accrued benefit" means the benefit that is payable to an unmarried participant as of that participant's normal retirement date as defined under the Plan; and the term "assigned benefit" means the share of the Participant's accrued benefit in the Plan assigned to the Alternate Payee in this section of this Order.

(CP 16).

But the Bohrer Letter also directs one's attention to Section 9 of the 2011 QDRO:

9. Assigned Benefit Distribution Form: The Participant shall elect to receipt the Participant's accrued benefit in the following form: 50% Joint and Survivor Annuity with the Alternate Payee treated as the surviving spouse.

(CP 17).

Helgi only discovered the Bohrer Letter and its discussion of Section 9 in 2020 when he wanted to retire. (CP 75-76). Helgi at this time learned Laurie was designated as his surviving spouse under the 2011 QDRO. (CP 76). The manager for the Employee Benefits and Pension was the first person to show Helgi the Bohrer Letter in 2020. (*Id.*). This was the first time he'd been made aware that Laurie's QDRO was not what was agreed to in the PSA. (*Id.*).

By then Helgi had remarried. His new spouse *should* have benefited from his pension for his years of marriage to her. (CP 75, 156). But under the 2011 QDRO, Laurie receives 100% of

the QJSA regardless of the percentage in the PSA based on the years of marriage and date of separation in February 2007. Helgi's new wife was left with nothing.

In 2022, Helgi successfully vacated the 2011 QDRO under CR 60(b). (CP 170-75). King County Chief Judge Tonya Thorp granted the motion under sections (b)(3) & (11), determining *inter alia* that "[i]t is extraordinary that neither the former pension attorney nor the Puget Sound Electric Workers Pension Plan provided a copy of the 2011 letter to Helgi Gudnason. It is further extraordinary due to the fiduciary obligation and a duty of good faith and fair dealing owed under the case of *In re Marriage of Sievers*[.]" (CP 173).

Laurie appealed to Division I of the Court of Appeals. (CP 211). The Court affirmed under CR 60(b)(11), though Judge J. Michael Diaz dissented. Contrary to Laurie's representations, the Court of Appeals correctly identified that the PSA addressed the survivor annuity that gave her 50% of the marital share of the pension and survivor annuity. Both the Majority and Dissenting

opinion segmented their analysis into two issues: (1) are the PSA and 2011 QDRO reconcilable, or did the 2011 QDRO contravene the PSA's terms? and (2) did the trial court abuse its discretion in granting the motion to vacate under CR 60(b)(11)?

Laurie's Petition for Review challenges only the second issue involving application CR 60(b)(11). (Pet. 12)

IV. REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

CR 60(b)(11) allows for relief from judgment for "[a]ny other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment." The Court of Appeals ruled that "this case presents a unique combination of extraordinary circumstances bringing it into the scope of CR 60(b)(11)." *Gudnason*, slip op. at 23. Laurie's conduct was part of a "procedural anomaly," and a confluence of atypical events "work[ed] a hardship on Helgi that was entirely outside" of his control. *Id*.

Laurie has by now raised a variety of arguments, each of which have been dismissed at the trial and appellate level. *See id.* slip op. at 15 n.3 (discussing how she "has taken three

different, inconsistent positions"). Her current Petition raises yet another issue: whether relief under CR 60(b)(11) is available for "an attorney's failure to adequately review the terms of [a] contract absent coercion or mutual mistake." (Pet. 12).

A. LAURIE CLAIMS THAT THIS CASE IMPLICATES "SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST" WITHOUT DISCUSSING HOW OR WHY THIS IS SO.

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the considerations to be applied by the Supreme Court in deciding whether to accept review of a Court of Appeals decision terminating review. Although the rule is not cited in Laurie's Petition, she appears to rely upon RAP 13(b)(4) ("[P]etition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court"). The phrase "substantial public interest" is mentioned twice in Laurie's brief. (Pet. 1, 18). Both mentions are cursory at best, lacking *any* explanation as to *why* this case carries such weight.

Quite the opposite. In order to make her argument that the Court of Appeals erred, Laurie perforce delves into the very fact-specific nature of this particular case. She does not put forth any

evidence—or even a hypothetical—suggesting how this opinion touches upon public interest, let alone a *continuing* interest.

Laurie's only real contention is extremely broad: that the decision goes against general contract principles, (she cites just two cases, on pgs. 14 and 16, with block quotes), and then accuses the Court of Appeals of improperly analogizing this case to several others. But Laurie has raised these same arguments for years. If there was any conflict in the law or legitimate slippery slope contention, she would have by now pointed to something—anything—concrete. She does not, and she cannot.

- **B.** LAURIE'S CLAIMS OF "ORDINARY ATTORNEY NEGLIGENCE" WILDLY DISTORTS (OR WILLFULLY IGNORES) THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.
 - 1. Context extinguishes Laurie's claims of attorney negligence.

Although Laurie's argument presents itself as one demarcating the scope of attorney negligence, she is merely returning to her position that people are bound by the contracts they sign. (Even the Court of Appeals recounted her reference

to *Wash. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Alsager*, 165 Wn. App. 10, 266 P.3d 905 (2011), in its opinion. (*Gudnason*, slip op. at 9.) There are, of course, exceptions to the objective theory of contracts: if there weren't, there would be no contract law. And again, the context surrounding the signing of the 2011 QDRO illuminates how procedurally atypical the events were leading to its signing.

So, Laurie's charge of attorney negligence is merely new gloss on a tired contract argument. Her position is unavailing for several reasons.

First, CR 60(b)(11) has served as the basis for vacating family law property settlement agreements. *See, e.g., Hammack v. Hammack*, 114 Wn. App. 805, 60 P.3d 663 (2003); *Knies v. Knies*, 96 Wn. App. 243, 979 P.2d 482 (1999); *In re Marriage of Thurston*, 92 Wn. App. 494, 963 P.2d 947 (1998).

Second, Laurie has never denied that she breached her spousal fiduciary duty to contract openly by submitting her own QDRO and failing to disclose the Bohrer Letter. The PSA

required Helgi, not Laurie, to draft the QDRO. Yet Laurie hired an attorney to draft her own version that she sent to the pension attorney. *Her* version contravened the PSA's terms because it led to Bohrer supplementing its terms, giving her more than the agreed *Bulicek* formula's QJSA benefit.

"[A] party to a [PSA] owes a fiduciary obligation and a duty of good faith and fair dealing to attempt to draft formal contract language that will honor that agreement." *In re Marriage of Sievers*, 78 Wn. App. 287, 311, 897 P.2d 388 (1995). "Any deliberate effort to draft language intended to subvert the agreement is a breach of the fiduciary obligations of marriage and a blatant violation of the duties of good faith and fair dealing in the contractual relationship." *Id.* at 897. "Subterfuges and evasions violate the obligation of good faith in performance even though the actor believes his conduct to be justified." Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 205, cmt. d.

Laurie is playing a game where this duty does not apply to her, while simultaneously holding Helgi to a stringent and unforgiving standard regarding undisclosed material information that only she and her attorneys possessed. She knowingly held onto a critical letter that was not sent to Helgi. And for years now she has refused to take responsibility for any of this—she's consistently pointed the finger at Helgi's attorney, but never once brought up her own attorneys' decisions. Her accusations of malpractice against Helgi's attorney are plainly misdirected.

So, keeping score, Chief Judge Thorp, Judge Birk, and Judge Coburn have all read the record and concluded that vacation under CR 60(b)(11) was warranted. They have each deemed the facts of this case so anomalous and exceptional that it would be unjust to hold Helgi to the 2011 QDRO he signed. It follows that Laurie's framing of this case being about attorney negligence is an untenable oversimplification.

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